

Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care





Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)

CDNA National Guidelines for Public Health Units

Version 8.0 June 2024 © Commonwealth of Australia as represented by the interim Australian Centre for Disease Control

Title: COVID-19 CDNA National Guidelines for Public Health Units

Creative Commons Licence

This publication is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Public License available from https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/legalcode ("Licence"). You must read and understand the Licence before using any material from this publication.

Restrictions

The Licence may not give you all the permissions necessary for your intended use. For example, other rights (such as publicity, privacy and moral rights) may limit how you use the material found in this publication.

The Licence does not cover, and there is no permission given for, use of any of the following material found in this publication:

- the Commonwealth Coat of Arms. (by way of information, the terms under which the Coat of Arms may be used can be found on the Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet website
- any logos and trademarks;
- any photographs and images;
- any signatures; and
- any material belonging to third parties. The third party elements must be included here or have a footnote reference throughout the document showing where they are

Attribution

Without limiting your obligations under the Licence, the Department of Health and Aged Care requests that you attribute this publication in your work. Any reasonable form of words may be used provided that you:

- include a reference to this publication and where, practicable, the relevant page numbers;
- make it clear that you have permission to use the material under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Public License;
- make it clear whether or not you have changed the material used from this publication;
- include a copyright notice in relation to the material used. In the case of no change to the material, the words "© Commonwealth of Australia (interim Australian Centre for Disease Control) 20XX" may be used. In the case where the material has been changed or adapted, the words: "Based on Commonwealth of Australia (interim Australian Centre for Disease Control) material" may be used; and
- do not suggest that the interim Australian Centre for Disease Control endorses you or your use of the material.

Enquiries

Enquiries regarding any other use of this publication should be addressed to the Branch Manager, Communication Branch, interim Australian Centre for Disease Control, GPO Box 9848, Canberra ACT 2601, or via e-mail to <u>copyright@health.gov.au</u>

Summary of revision history

Note this table is a summary of key revisions to this guidance. For full revision history, refer to the <u>Department of Health and Aged Care</u> website.

Version	Date	Revised by	Changes
Version 8.0	12 June 2024	CDNA	Full revision to reflect changes in evidence, epidemiology and public health response. Revised: Summary, the Disease, Routine Prevention Activities, Surveillance, Testing, Cases and Contacts sections. New: Special settings section. Removed: Appendix A - Current variants of concern and Appendix B - Additional guidance and resources. Moved: Appendix C: Glossary of terms into main body of guidelines.
Version 7.4	14 October 2022	CDNA	Revised: Reinfection definition, isolation and restriction guidance
Version 7.3	09 September 2022	CDNA	Revised: Isolation and restriction guidance
Version 7.2	22 July 2022	CDNA	Revised: Reinfection definition.
Version 7.1	08 July 2022	CDNA	Revised: Reinfection guidance.
Version 7.0	03 June 2022	CDNA	Full revision to present evidence-based recommendations for public health in the context of widespread community transmission across Australia. Appendices have been separated from guidelines main body. Appendix A. New: Current variants of concern, Appendix B. New: Additional guidance and resources, Appendix C. New: Glossary of terms, Appendix D. Moved: Full revision history.

Disclaimer

These guidelines for public health units (PHUs) outline Australia's national minimum standard for the routine public health management of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). They are intended to reflect the current evidence base, with pragmatic guidance provided where evidence is still evolving. In the event of a new SARS-CoV-2 variant of concern (VOC), these guidelines may change rapidly or be supplemented with additional public health information and procedures. Jurisdictions may implement policies that exceed the national minimum standard based on the local epidemiological context, available resources, and other factors. The Communicable Diseases Network Australia (CDNA) will review and update these recommendations as new information becomes available.

Readers should not rely solely on the information contained within these guidelines. Guideline information is not intended to be a substitute for advice from other relevant sources, including, but not limited to, advice from a public health specialist or other health professional. Clinical judgment and discretion may be required to interpret and apply these guidelines. Public health units should refer to and follow jurisdictional guidance regarding disease management, where appropriate.

Members of the CDNA, the Australian Health Principal Protection Principal Committee (AHPPC), and the Australian Government, as represented by the interim Australian Centre for Disease Control (CDC), do not warrant or represent that the information contained in these guidelines is accurate, current or complete. The CDNA, the AHPPC and the interim Australian CDC do not accept any legal liability or responsibility for any loss, damages, costs or expenses incurred by the use of, reliance on, or interpretation of the information contained in these guidelines.

Table of Contents

1.	Summary	7
	Public health priority	7
	Case management	7
	Contact management	7
2.	The disease	8
	Infectious agent	8
	Disease occurrence and public health significance	8
,	Variants of concern and interest	9
	Mode of transmission	9
	Incubation period	9
	Infectious period	. 10
	Clinical presentation and outcome Groups at increased risk of severe disease	
3.	Routine prevention activities	12
	Vaccination	.12
	Prevention	.12
	Recommendations for people with acute respiratory symptoms	.13
4.	Surveillance	14
	Surveillance objectives Australian National Surveillance Plan for COVID-19, Influenza and RSV	
	Reporting of COVID-19 cases	
	Australian Respiratory Surveillance Reports SARS-CoV-2 genomic surveillance	
5.	Testing	
	Primary testing methods	.16
	Testing recommendations	.16
6.	Cases	17
	Definitions Case definition	
	Case management Response times Case investigation Clinical management Isolation and restriction	17 17 17

7.	Contacts	19
lo	dentification of contacts	19
С	Contact management	19
8.	Special settings	20
н	ligh-risk settings	
	Routine prevention activities	20
	Entry of COVID-19 cases and contacts to high-risk settings	
С	Other special settings	21
9.	Appendix: Glossary of terms	23
10.	References	25

1. Summary

Public health priority

These guidelines outline the national minimum standard for the routine public health management of COVID-19 in Australia. In the event of a new SARS-CoV-2 <u>variant of concern (VOC)</u>, updated guidance recommending additional public health actions may be required. Outside the context of a new VOC, the public health management of COVID-19 should be focused on <u>routine prevention activities</u> to prevent transmission in the community and high-risk populations.

Fubic health phonty classification and response			
Priority Classification	Public health response timeline		
Urgent	Where there is a new VOC, whose characteristics require the need for urgent public health action, act immediately – respond within 24 hours.		
High	For outbreaks in high-risk settings, act as soon as possible – respond within		

Public health priority classification and response

one working day.

Case management

Routine

Healthcare providers are responsible for the management of individual COVID-19 cases. Recommend seeking early medical care for cases at <u>increased risk of severe</u> <u>disease</u> or in <u>high-risk settings</u>.

Individual cases in most community settings do not require follow up.

Public health action focuses on advice to cases regarding mitigations to minimise secondary transmission of SARS-CoV-2 and management of cases in <u>high-risk</u> <u>settings</u>.

See Case management for further information.

Contact management

Contact management is not routinely undertaken for COVID-19. For certain outbreaks in <u>high-risk settings</u> or where there is a new VOC, consider the need for contact tracing and management.

Advise contacts to monitor for symptoms. Recommend seeking early medical care, if symptoms develop, for those at <u>increased risk of severe disease</u> or in <u>high-risk</u> settings.

See Contact management for further guidance.

2. The disease

Infectious agent

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), an RNA virus, is the infectious agent which causes COVID-19 (the disease). SARS-CoV-2 is the ninth coronavirus documented to affect humans, with all previous human coronaviruses having strong evidence of zoonotic origins (1). The World Health Organization (WHO) considers the most likely origin of SARS-CoV-2 to be zoonotic (2).

Disease occurrence and public health significance

The first cases of 'pneumonia of unknown cause' detected in Wuhan, China, were notified to WHO on 31 December 2019 (3). The cause was identified as a novel coronavirus. WHO declared the outbreak a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC) on 30 January 2020, and a pandemic on 12 March 2020 (4). On 5 May 2023, WHO announced COVID-19 represented an established and ongoing health issue which no longer constituted a PHEIC (5). As of 3 March 2024, WHO has reported over 774 million confirmed COVID-19 cases globally and over 7 million deaths (6).

As of 7 June 2024, over 11.8 million COVID-19 cases have been notified in Australia, since the first locally acquired case on 2 March 2020 (7, 8). The public health significance of COVID-19 is greater among specific groups, such as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and older people, particularly those aged over 70 years, who may be at increased risk of severe disease and have higher case notifications than other cohorts (9-11).

Intensive disease control efforts by governments, the community, and the private sector, controlled COVID-19 transmission in Australia for the first two years of the pandemic. However, transmission in the community became widespread once the highly infectious Omicron variant became the dominant circulating variant. At this time, vaccination coverage of a two-dose primary course of COVID-19 vaccine was above 80% for the Australian population recommended to be vaccinated (12). On 20 October 2023, Australia's Chief Medical Officer declared that COVID-19 was no longer a Communicable Disease Incident of National Significance, reflecting the reduction in public health risk due to the combination of high vaccination rate and immunity from infection (hybrid immunity), access to antiviral treatments and the reduced disease severity associated with the Omicron variant (13-15).

Regular increases in population-wide infections, termed waves, occur due to the incursion/emergence of new SARS-CoV-2 variants and other factors such as waning immunity and increased social mixing. Waves of COVID-19 in Australia do not currently

occur in a seasonal pattern, unlike other respiratory viruses which generally peak in winter (16).

Variants of concern and interest

Like other viruses, the genetic structure of competent SARS-CoV-2 evolves over time, often with minimal impact on its transmission and pathogenicity properties. However, some mutations can affect its properties in a way that poses an increased risk to public health. The WHO Technical Advisory Group on SARS-CoV-2 Virus Evolution monitors SARS-CoV-2 variants and determines whether they meet the definition of a variant of interest or VOC. In Australia, monitoring for VOCs is undertaken by the Communicable Diseases Genomics Network (CDGN). For more information, see the <u>CDGN</u> website.

The VOCs circulating in Australia vary in their potential for transmission, clinical presentation, and disease severity. SARS-CoV-2 genomic lineages are defined using the Phylogenetic Assignment of Named Global Outbreak nomenclature. Lineages reflect evolutionary relationships and are organised hierarchically following the phylogenetic tree structure.

The WHO designated key variants using letters of the Greek alphabet to aid public communication. In 2021, the VOCs which affected Australia included Alpha (B.1.1.7), Beta (B.1.351), Delta (B.1.617.2), Gamma (P.1) and Omicron (B.1.1.529 and BA. sublineages). Since December 2021, the Omicron variant and recombinant strains have dominated due to a significant competitive advantage over other lineages.

Mode of transmission

SARS-CoV-2 is most commonly transmitted person-to-person, primarily though inhalation of respiratory droplets or smaller aerosolised particles. Most transmission occurs through close contact with an infected individual. Transmission may also occur over larger distances in poorly ventilated indoor settings (17-19).

Less commonly, transmission can occur indirectly via contact with contaminated surfaces or fomites (20-24).

There is limited evidence to suggest transmission may also be possible via other routes, such as faecal-oral (25, 26). Zoonotic transmission of SARS-CoV-2 has also been demonstrated (27).

Incubation period

The median incubation period of ancestral strains of SARS-CoV-2 is 5 to 7 days, with a range of 1 to 14 days (28-30). However, successively shorter incubation periods have been identified for each emerging VOC (31-35). Current estimates for the pooled mean incubation period for different sublineages of Omicron range from 3.5 days for BA.1, to 4.1 days for BA.2 (36).

Infectious period

The infectious period for SARS-CoV-2 varies based on individual factors and the specific VOC and subvariant. The start of the infectious period for COVID-19 is considered to be from 48 hours prior to symptom onset (or positive test if asymptomatic) (37). In general, individuals may be considered infectious until they are free of acute symptoms, which may be up to 10 days (37). Only a very small proportion of people may remain infectious for longer than this (38). People who are asymptomatic may still shed virus and infect others over this period (39-41). Individuals with severe disease, or who are significantly immunocompromised may be infectious for longer periods (42).

Testing, with either a <u>nucleic acid amplification test (NAAT)</u> or rapid antigen test (RAT) cannot reliably determine infectivity as these tests can detect non-viable viral shedding that does not necessarily correlate with infectivity (42-44).

Clinical presentation and outcome

COVID-19 presents with similar symptoms to other acute respiratory infections (ARI), such as influenza and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV). Symptoms may include:

- fever
- chills
- sore throat
- sneezing
- shortness of breath
- runny nose
- cough
- loss of smell and/or taste
- headache
- fatigue
- muscle or body aches
- nausea (with or without vomiting)
- diarrhoea.

COVID-19 cannot be distinguished from other respiratory viral illnesses without diagnostic testing.

SARS-CoV-2 may cause severe disease, including pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and complications affecting other organ systems. The risk of severe disease varies depending on the COVID-19 infection and vaccination history, age, and health status of the infected individual, the specific SARS-CoV-2 variant, and other factors.

Some people with COVID-19 go on to develop post-acute sequelae of COVID-19, commonly referred to as long COVID (45). While severe disease in children is uncommon, paediatric multisystem inflammatory syndrome (also known as multisystem inflammatory syndrome) is a rare but serious complication (46, 47).

Immunity against SARS-CoV-2 wanes following both natural infection and vaccination (48). Reinfection following recent COVID-19 and/or prior to recovery from COVID-19 is therefore common (49-51). However, both previous infection and vaccination appear to be protective against severe disease in subsequent infections (52, 53). Hybrid immunity (immunity in persons who have had both prior vaccination and infection) has been shown to provide greater immunological protection than either alone (54, 55). The risk of reinfection is generally higher in people who are significantly immunocompromised (50, 56, 57).

In October 2023, the case fatality ratio (CFR) among COVID-19 cases in Australia was approximately 0.2% (58). The CFR is higher among older people or those with comorbidities, with approximately one third of deaths occurring in January 2022 among residents of aged care facilities (16).

For the latest information on COVID-19 incidence, severity, transmission, and vaccination in Australia, see:

- <u>Coronavirus (COVID-19) case numbers and statistics | Australian Government</u>
 <u>Department of Health and Aged Care</u>
- <u>Australian Respiratory Surveillance Reports</u>

Groups at increased risk of severe disease

Older age is strongly associated with increased risk of severe disease and death, with risk significantly greater for those older than 70 years of age compared with younger people (59-62). People who have existing chronic health conditions, are immunocompromised, are Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander people, live in residential care facilities, are living with a disability, or are pregnant, may also be at increased risk of severe disease and death (63, 64). <u>Vaccination</u> significantly reduces the risk of severe disease and death in at-risk groups (65-69).

Persons at increased risk of severe disease should be encouraged to discuss with their general practitioner the development of a COVID-19 plan for implementation if they develop ARI or test positive for COVID-19.

For further information, see the Department of Health and Aged Care website: <u>Groups</u> <u>at higher risk from COVID-19</u>.

3. Routine prevention activities

Evidence has demonstrated that public health measures are effective in reducing SARS-CoV-2 transmission, particularly during periods of increased community transmission (70). Public health prevention activities for COVID-19 are similar to that for other respiratory viral infections. These measures can be applied at the individual, organisational and community level.

Vaccination

Vaccination remains the most important measure to protect against severe outcomes from COVID-19. Vaccines for SARS-CoV-2 are very effective at minimising the risk of severe disease and death but have limited effectiveness in preventing infection or transmission of the virus to others.

The Australian Technical Advisory Group on Immunisation recommends a primary course of COVID-19 vaccination for all Australians aged 18 years and over. A primary course is recommended for children aged 6 months to less than 18 years at increased risk of severe disease or death from COVID-19.

Further COVID-19 vaccinations are recommended every 6-12 months for certain groups based on age and risk factors for severe disease.

For further details regarding COVID-19 vaccine recommendations, see <u>Clinical</u> <u>guidance for COVID-19 vaccine providers</u> and <u>The Australian Immunisation Handbook</u> (COVID-19).

Prevention

Simple prevention activities can help limit transmission of SARS-CoV-2 in the community (71, 72). The magnitude of COVID-19 waves may be reduced through accessible and effective communications targeted towards the community and appropriately tailored for specific groups (73, 74). Communications regarding prevention should emphasise the importance of:

- vaccination of eligible people
- staying at home when unwell with a COVID-19 compatible illness (see <u>Isolation</u> and restriction)
- correct hand and respiratory hygiene
- maintaining physical distance (at least 1.5 metres) from others, where possible, especially when indoors
- avoiding visiting high-risk settings when a case or contact (see <u>High-risk</u> <u>settings</u>)
- optimised ventilation.

Wearing appropriate and well-fitted face masks may lower the risk of infection or transmission under some circumstances and may be considered as an additional layer of protection, particularly when indoors or where it is not possible to maintain physical distancing (75, 76). Mask-wearing may be required in <u>high-risk settings</u> or under certain conditions but should not replace other forms of prevention (77). For more information on the use of face masks and particulate filter respirators (PFR) in the community, see the <u>Department of Health and Aged Care</u> website.

Improved indoor air quality through natural or mechanical ventilation can reduce SARS-CoV-2 transmission (78, 79). Implementing appropriate infection prevention and control activities is critical to prevention, including in healthcare and other high-risk settings. For more information, see the <u>Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health</u> <u>Care</u> website.

Research is being undertaken into potential therapeutic agents for pre- and postexposure chemoprophylaxis to further reduce the risk of COVID-19 infection in defined populations (80). However, there are presently no pharmaceutical agents approved for use in Australia for this purpose.

Recommendations for people with acute respiratory symptoms

To prevent transmission of SARS-CoV-2 and other respiratory viruses, strongly recommend people with acute respiratory symptoms to:

- stay at home until acute symptoms have resolved, other than to seek medical care (including <u>testing</u>) or for other urgent reasons
- if they must leave home
 - avoid visiting family or friends in residential care facilities or hospitals, and other people <u>at increased risk of severe disease</u>
 - $\circ\;$ wear a mask when unable to appropriately physically distance from others
 - for necessary medical or other appointments, call ahead to notify of symptoms prior to arrival, if able
- proactively seek prompt medical advice to consider the need for <u>testing</u> for SARS-CoV-2 (and other respiratory pathogens) if at increased risk of severe disease. Early use of appropriate antiviral medications can prevent severe infection. For information, see the <u>Department of Health and Aged Care</u> website.

4. Surveillance

Surveillance objectives

The key surveillance objectives for COVID-19 are to monitor:

- SARS-CoV-2 activity in Australia
- the virological and genetic characteristics of SARS-CoV-2
- epidemiological and clinical characteristics of COVID-19 (including severity and mortality)
- outbreaks in high-risk settings and population groups to inform response
- public health intervention effectiveness and health care system impact and capacity associated with COVID-19.

Australian National Surveillance Plan for COVID-19, Influenza and RSV

The <u>Australian National Surveillance Plan for COVID-19</u>, <u>Influenza and RSV</u> provides a national framework for the collection, analysis and reporting of health-related data for these viral respiratory diseases in Australia. It outlines the surveillance indicators and data sources used to monitor disease activity, severe disease, health service impact, and effectiveness of interventions to inform public health decision-making and national policy responses.

Reporting of COVID-19 cases

Central state/territory communicable diseases units will provide data to the National Notifiable Diseases Surveillance System.

Australian Respiratory Surveillance Reports

The <u>Australian Respiratory Surveillance Reports</u> are published routinely to provide a national overview of the epidemiology of COVID-19, influenza, and RSV infection, drawing on information from several different surveillance systems. The reports detail the distribution of respiratory virus activity in the community, the severity of infections, populations that might be more severely affected, and the impact of respiratory illness activity on the healthcare system and community.

SARS-CoV-2 genomic surveillance

Genomic sequencing is a critical part of SARS-CoV-2 surveillance. Genomic sequencing may be used to:

- monitor transmission dynamics
- identify lineages with concerning features such as VOCs
- monitor new incursions
- inform public health responses.

Jurisdictions have different priorities and capacities which may change over time. Based on their established workflow and epidemiological context, targeted sequencing of clinical specimens is undertaken by states and territories. Where possible, nontargeted sampling (i.e., randomly or systematically selected clinical samples) in combination with targeted clinical sampling is recommended to maximise the population representativeness of SARS-CoV-2 genomic surveillance data. Wastewater based genomic sequencing is also used in some jurisdictions to provide information on the growth and proportions of emergent and circulating variants within the population.

5. Testing

Primary testing methods

Details on the different testing methodologies for SARS-CoV-2 can be found in the Public Health Laboratory Network guidance on laboratory testing for SARS-CoV-2.

The gold standard for diagnosing acute symptomatic COVID-19 infection is with a NAAT (e.g., reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction). RATs may be used as an alternative and more accessible testing method, providing fast results following the correct collection of an appropriate respiratory sample. RATs have been approved by the Therapeutic Goods Administration for home or point-of-care use to detect the presence of viral protein from SARS-CoV-2. RAT sensitivity is inherently lower than that of NAATs, resulting in a higher rate of false negative tests. Performance of different RATs can vary from test to test and depend on the individual SARS-CoV-2 variant and prevalence of infection in the community. For the purposes of surveillance, a positive RAT result does not require a confirmatory NAAT.

Testing recommendations

Follow jurisdictional guidance on testing for SARS-CoV-2. Emphasise the importance of early testing for people who are at increased risk of severe disease who have symptoms compatible with COVID-19. Early testing enables steps to be taken to limit onward transmission and facilitate access to <u>oral antiviral treatments</u> for eligible people.

Additional testing recommendations or requirements may be implemented for people who work in or attend <u>high-risk settings</u>.

Regardless of testing, people with COVID-19 compatible symptoms should be advised to follow the <u>recommendations for people with ARI symptoms</u>.

6. Cases

Definitions

Case definition

For surveillance case definitions please see <u>CDNA surveillance case definitions |</u> Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care.

Case management

Follow up of individual COVID-19 cases is not routinely required outside the context of a new <u>VOC</u>. Public health action focuses on advice to cases regarding mitigations to minimise secondary transmission of SARS-CoV-2 and management of cases in <u>high-risk settings</u>.

Cases should have access to up-to-date jurisdictional advice on managing their illness, accessing medical care, and minimising the risk of onward transmission in the community. This includes advice on:

- the importance of staying at home while unwell and additional mitigations, and
- the risk of transmission to their household/household-like and social/workplace contacts, and
- the recommendation for cases to discuss with their employer when to return to their workplace and any additional requirements in line with their workplace health and safety policy.

Response times

Respond immediately, within 24 hours, where there is a new VOC whose characteristics require the need for urgent public health action.

Act as soon as possible, generally within one working day, for outbreaks in <u>high-risk</u> <u>settings</u>.

All other COVID-19 cases may be considered routine.

Case investigation

Individual cases do not require routine follow up. However, follow-up may be indicated in some circumstances, particularly in <u>high-risk settings</u>.

Clinical management

PHUs are not routinely involved in individual clinical management of COVID-19 cases. The medical management of individual cases is the responsibility of the case's healthcare provider.

Isolation and restriction

Isolation of COVID-19 cases in the community is recommended as an effective way to reduce the spread of infection. Information for cases should advise they have the potential to infect others for up to 10 days after the onset of symptoms, with a very small proportion of people infectious for longer than this (38). Cases should be strongly advised to stay at home until their acute symptoms have resolved (usually 5 to 7 days).

Please refer to <u>High-risk settings</u> for advice on COVID-19 case management in these contexts.

In addition to staying at home, COVID-19 cases are recommended to employ the following additional mitigations while symptoms are present:

- wear a mask when indoors for necessary trips outside the home
- work or study from home where feasible
- undertake appropriate hand and respiratory hygiene
- avoid crowded areas
- observe local work health and safety policies.

Persons who are highly immunocompromised can be infectious for prolonged periods. These cases should be guided by their treating physician on the length of time they should stay at home and employ additional mitigations when outside the home (81).

7. Contacts

Contact tracing for COVID-19 cases is not routinely undertaken in Australia. In the context of widespread community transmission, unless there is significant concern for a new <u>VOC</u>, contact identification and management should be generally limited to <u>high-risk settings</u>.

Identification of contacts

The risk of developing COVID-19 increases with the duration and level of contact with an infectious case. People who have had close or prolonged contact with a case, such as household and household-like contacts, have the highest risk of developing COVID-19 (82).

Cases should be encouraged to advise those with whom they have been in close or prolonged contact, while infectious, of their potential exposure.

Contact management

Asymptomatic contacts of a COVID-19 case should:

- monitor for symptoms and if symptoms develop, manage as per recommendations for people with acute respiratory symptoms
- practice correct hand and respiratory hygiene
- follow workplace advice.

See Entry of COVID-19 cases and contacts to high-risk settings.

8. Special settings

High-risk settings

High-risk settings include, but are not limited to, healthcare, residential care, and other settings where both:

- a high proportion of people are at increased risk of severe disease; and
- there is an increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 transmission.

Jurisdictions may monitor outbreaks of COVID-19 among high-risk settings. The public health response to outbreaks is determined by jurisdictions (and may vary within jurisdictions) and based on prioritisation which considers local reporting requirements, available resources, and the capacity for self-management by facilities and their organisational leads.

For information on the control and public health management of outbreaks of ARI (including COVID-19) in specific high-risk settings, see the CDNA guidelines for residential care facilities and disability residential services.

Routine prevention activities

The potential clinical impact of COVID-19 in <u>high-risk settings</u> is inherently high. These settings must implement routine prevention activities to minimise the risk and impact of an incursion or outbreak of COVID-19. This includes:

- encouraging vaccination of eligible people
- complying with infection prevention and control activities and regulations (including the use of personal protective equipment)
- controls to prevent contact between well and unwell attendees
- outbreak management plans.

Environmental controls, such as improving indoor air quality through optimised ventilation, and cleaning and disinfection practices, can also reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 transmission (78, 79). For more information, see the <u>Australian Commission on</u> <u>Safety and Quality in Health Care</u> website and <u>Coronavirus cleaning and disinfection</u> <u>for health and residential aged care homes</u> guidelines.

Entry of COVID-19 cases and contacts to high-risk settings

COVID-19 cases

In addition to the standard advice regarding the <u>management of COVID-19 cases</u>, additional procedures and guidance may be implemented, at either the jurisdictional or facility level, to address staff return to work and attendance of visitors to <u>high-risk</u> <u>settings</u>. Facilities should have policies in place to address testing, exclusion, and

return to work for staff with ARI and/or COVID-19. Guidance should be tailored to the specific setting type, considering the level of risk and potential clinical consequences of an incursion.

Clearly advise people with COVID-19 or <u>symptoms of ARI</u>, through appropriately tailored public messaging, not to visit settings where there are people at high risk of severe disease (e.g. residential aged care homes (RACH), or hospitals) until both acute symptoms have resolved and at least 7 days from symptom onset (or 7 days after testing positive if asymptomatic). Please refer to jurisdictional advice for exact timeframes to enter high-risk settings.

In exceptional circumstances (such as visiting persons undergoing end of life care), with mitigations in place, it may be appropriate for persons with COVID-19 or symptoms of ARI to enter a RACH; this should occur on a case-by-case basis in discussion with the involved RACH.

Cases who work in <u>high-risk settings</u> should talk to their employer about their return to work and take additional precautions in accordance with local workplace policies and guidance.

COVID-19 contacts

Advise asymptomatic <u>household and household-like contacts</u> of COVID-19 cases to defer visits to <u>high-risk settings</u> until at least 7 days have passed since their last contact with a COVID-19 case, other than for necessary reasons such as seeking medical attention. If a visit to a <u>high-risk setting</u> cannot be avoided, advise contacts to wear a surgical face mask and observe physical distancing. Please refer to jurisdictional advice for exact timeframes to enter high-risk settings.

In selected circumstances (such as visiting persons undergoing end of life care), with mitigations in place, it may be appropriate for persons who are COVID-19 contacts to enter a RACH; this should occur on a case-by-case basis in discussion with the involved RACH.

Contacts who work in <u>high-risk settings</u> should talk to their employer about their return to work and take additional precautions in accordance with local workplace policies and guidance.

Facilities may implement additional mitigations for contacts entering specific <u>high-risk</u> <u>settings</u>, particularly during periods where the risk of transmission is high. These may include testing, mask-wearing (i.e., surgical or PFR), and avoiding common areas.

Other special settings

Specific settings, such as correctional facilities, childcare centres, and cruise ships are prone to rapid transmission of SARS-CoV-2 and other respiratory viruses. <u>Routine</u> <u>prevention activities</u> should be employed, where appropriate, to minimise the risk of an incursion or outbreak of COVID-19 in these settings.

Advise people with <u>ARI symptoms</u> to avoid attending settings with a high potential for rapid transmission. People who develop symptoms while in these settings should be advised to consult with the setting management, wear a surgical mask, practice correct hand and respiratory hygiene, and maintain physical distance from others, where possible.

9. Appendix: Glossary of terms

Term	Definition
Acute respiratory symptoms	The symptoms experienced by a person while they have a respiratory infection (infection of the nose, throat, larynx, trachea, bronchi and/or lungs). These symptoms may include (but are not limited to): cough, shortness of breath, sore throat, runny or blocked nose.
Ancestral strain	The original SARS-CoV-2 virus that was first reported in Wuhan, China, in December 2019.
Asymptomatic	Having no symptoms.
Case fatality ratio	The proportion of individuals diagnosed with a disease who die from that disease.
Confirmed COVID- 19 case	A person meeting the laboratory definitive criteria for being a confirmed COVID-19 case.
Exposure	Contact or potential contact with an infectious COVID-19 case.
Genomic Surveillance	Collecting SARS-CoV-2 genomic sequence data from representative populations to detect new variants and monitor trends in circulating variants.
High-risk of severe disease	People with risk factors, such as older age or other health conditions, which contribute to a greater risk of serious illness due to COVID-19.
High-risk setting	High-risk settings include healthcare, residential care, and other settings where both a high proportion of people are at high-risk of severe disease and there is an increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 transmission.
Household or household-like contact	A person who lived with, or spent a substantial amount of time indoors with, a COVID- 19 case during their infectious period.
Incubation period	The time between exposure to a COVID-19 case during their infectious period and the first appearance of symptoms.
Infectious period	The time where a COVID-19 case is contagious and can pass on infection to other people.
Jurisdiction	An Australian state or territory.

Natural infection	Infection of SARS-CoV-2 antigens eliciting an immune response and antibodies, as opposed to vaccination.
Novel coronavirus	A new coronavirus strain that has not been previously identified in humans.
Nucleic acid amplification testing	Testing method which detects the presence of nucleic acids (the genetic material) of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. This includes polymerase chain reaction tests.
Outbreak	A greater number of cases than what is normally expected in a given population. In closed populations, such as a residential care facility, health authorities may define an outbreak as two or more cases in a given time period.
Particulate filter respirators	A type of respiratory protection which, when correctly fitted, protects the wearer from infectious agents disseminated through airborne droplet nuclei or small particles which can remain infective over time and distance.
Personal protective equipment	Equipment used to protect the wearer from SARS-CoV-2 infection. This may include surgical masks, particulate filter respirators, gloves, goggles, glasses, face shields, gowns, and aprons.
Rapid antigen testing	Testing method which detects the presence of specific proteins of the virus. They are most accurate when used to test symptomatic individuals and can be used unsupervised with self-collected specimens. These tests are not as accurate at detecting the virus as a nucleic acid amplification test.
Recombinant	A process in which the genomes of two SARS-CoV-2 variants (that have infected a person at the same time) combine during the viral replication process to form a new variant that is different from both parent lineages.
Reinfection	A subsequent confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection in a person with a past known history of COVID-19 that is determined to be separate to the previous infection based on epidemiological and/or laboratory findings.
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, the virus that causes COVID-19 disease.
Variant	A viral genome (genetic code) that may contain one or more mutations to the ancestral strain (original virus).
Variant of concern (VOC)	A SARS-CoV-2 variant with characteristics that make it more transmissible or cause more severe illness than the ancestral strain and may require additional public health action.
Viral shedding	When a person releases detectable viral RNA from their bodies.
Whole genome sequencing	A method of genomic surveillance that describes the nucleic acid (DNA/RNA) sequence of an organism at a given moment in time.

10. References

1. Holmes EC, Goldstein SA, Rasmussen AL, Robertson DL, Crits-Christoph A, Wertheim JO, et al. The origins of SARS-CoV-2: A critical review. Cell. 2021;184(19):4848-56.

2. WHO. WHO-convened global study of origins of SARS-CoV-2: China Part. Geneva; 2021 30 March 2021.

3. WHO. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - the 11th of March 2020. Geneva 11 March 2020.

4. WHO. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the Mission briefing on COVID-19 -12 March 2020 Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 [updated 12 March 2020; cited 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/dg/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-mission-briefing-on-covid-19---12-march-2020</u>.

5. WHO. Statement on the fifteenth meeting of the IHR (2005) Emergency Committee on the COVID-19 pandemic Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023 [updated 5 May 2023; cited 2024. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/05-05-2023-statement-on-the-fifteenth-meeting-of-the-international-health-regulations-(2005)-emergency-committee-regarding-the-coronavirus-disease-(covid-19)-pandemic.</u>

6. WHO. COVID-19 epidemiological update – 15 March 2024. Geneva; 2024 15 March 2024.

7. Australian Government. Update on COVID-19 in Australia- Community Transmission Department of Health and Aged Care; 2020 [updated 03 March 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/ministers/the-hon-greg-hunt-mp/media/update-on-covid-19-in-australia-community-transmission</u>.

8. Australian Government. National Notifiable Disease Surveillance Dashboard: Department of Health and Aged Care; 2024 [Available from: <u>https://nindss.health.gov.au/pbi-dashboard/</u>.

9. Liu B, Spokes P, He W, Kaldor J. High risk groups for severe COVID-19 in a whole of population cohort in Australia. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2021;21(1):685.

10. Australian Government. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) epidemiology reports, Australia, 2022-2024. Australia: Department of Health and Aged Care; 2023 2024.

11. Australian Government. Australian Immunisation Handbook - COVID-19. Australia: Department of Health and Aged Care; 2024 [updated 15 March 2024; cited 2024 9 May 2024]. Available from: <u>https://immunisationhandbook.health.gov.au/contents/vaccine-preventable-diseases/covid-19</u>.

12. Australian Government. COVID-19 vaccine rollout update – 31 December 2021. Australia; 2021 31 December 2021.

13. Australian Government. End of COVID-19 emergency response Australia: Department of Health and Aged Care; 2023 [Available from: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/news/end-of-covid-19-emergency-response?language=en</u>.

14. Australian Health Protection Principal Committee. AHPPC statement – End of COVID-19 emergency response Australia: Department of Health and Aged Care; 2023 [Available from: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/news/ahppc-statement-end-of-covid-19-emergency-response</u>.

15. Hyams C, Challen R, Marlow R, Nguyen J, Begier E, Southern J, et al. Severity of Omicron (B.1.1.529) and Delta (B.1.617.2) SARS-CoV-2 infection among hospitalised adults: a prospective cohort study in Bristol, United Kingdom. The Lancet Regional Health – Europe. 2023;25.

16. Australian Government. COVID-19 reporting Australia: Department of Health and Aged Care; 2024 [Available from: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/topics/covid-19/reporting#covid19-case-notifications</u>.

17. Duval D, Palmer JC, Tudge I, Pearce-Smith N, O'Connell E, Bennett A, et al. Long distance airborne transmission of SARS-CoV-2: rapid systematic review. Bmj. 2022;377:e068743.

18. Huang W, Gao CX, Luo D, Wang Y, Zheng X, Liu C, et al. Risk evaluation of venue types and human behaviors of COVID-19 outbreaks in public indoor environments: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Pollut. 2024;341:122970.

19. Bert F, Lo Moro G, Peano A, Previti C, Siliquini R. Outbreaks of COVID-19 in indoor places of worship: a systematic review. Perspect Public Health. 2024;144(2):86-97.

20. Communicable Diseases Network. Scientific Brief: SARS-CoV-2 Transmission. National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases 7 March 2021.

21. Belluco S, Mancin M, Marzoli F, Bortolami A, Mazzetto E, Pezzuto A, et al. Prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA on inanimate surfaces: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol. 2021;36(7):685-707.

22. Marzoli F, Bortolami A, Pezzuto A, Mazzetto E, Piro R, Terregino C, et al. A systematic review of human coronaviruses survival on environmental surfaces. Sci Total Environ. 2021;778:146191.

23. Meiksin A. Using the SEIR model to constrain the role of contaminated fomites in spreading an epidemic: An application to COVID-19 in the UK. Math Biosci Eng. 2022;19(4):3564-90.

24. Onakpoya IJ, Heneghan CJ, Spencer EA, Brassey J, Plüddemann A, Evans DH, et al. SARS-CoV-2 and the role of fomite transmission: a systematic review. F1000Res. 2021;10:233.

25. Termansen MB, Frische S. Fecal-oral transmission of SARS-CoV-2: A systematic review of evidence from epidemiological and experimental studies. American journal of infection control. 2023;51(12):1430-7.

26. Jeganathan K, Paul AB. Vertical transmission of SARS-CoV-2: A systematic review. Obstet Med. 2022;15(2):91-8.

27. Cui X, Wang Y, Zhai J, Xue M, Zheng C, Yu L. Future trajectory of SARS-CoV-2: Constant spillover back and forth between humans and animals. Virus Research. 2023;328:199075.

28. Quesada JA, López-Pineda A, Gil-Guillén VF, Arriero-Marín JM, Gutiérrez F, Carratala-Munuera C. Incubation period of COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Clin Esp (Barc). 2021;221(2):109-17.

29. Elias C, Sekri A, Leblanc P, Cucherat M, Vanhems P. The incubation period of COVID-19: A meta-analysis. Int J Infect Dis. 2021;104:708-10.

30. Daley C, Fydenkevez M, Ackerman-Morris S. A Systematic Review of the Incubation Period of SARS-CoV-2: The Effects of Age, Biological Sex, and Location on Incubation Period. medRxiv. 2020:2020.12.23.20248790.

31. Kang M, Xin H, Yuan J, Ali ST, Liang Z, Zhang J, et al. Transmission dynamics and epidemiological characteristics of Delta variant infections in China. medRxiv. 2021:2021.08.12.21261991.

32. Wang Y, Chen R, Hu F, Lan Y, Yang Z, Zhan C, et al. Transmission, viral kinetics and clinical characteristics of the emergent SARS-CoV-2 Delta VOC in Guangzhou, China. EClinicalMedicine. 2021;40.

33. Jansen L, Tegomoh B, Lange K, Showalter K, Figliomeni J, Abdalhamid B, et al. Investigation of a SARS-CoV-2 B.1.1.529 (Omicron) Variant Cluster — Nebraska. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2021(70):1782–4.

34. Backer JA, Eggink D, Andeweg SP, Veldhuijzen IK, van Maarseveen N, Vermaas K, et al. Shorter serial intervals in SARS-CoV-2 cases with Omicron BA.1 variant compared with Delta variant, the Netherlands, 13 to 26 December 2021. Euro surveillance : bulletin Europeen sur les maladies transmissibles = European communicable disease bulletin. 2022;27(6).

35. Wu Y, Kang L, Guo Z, Liu J, Liu M, Liang W. Incubation Period of COVID-19 Caused by Unique SARS-CoV-2 Strains: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(8):e2228008.

36. Xu X, Wu Y, Kummer AG, Zhao Y, Hu Z, Wang Y, et al. Assessing changes in incubation period, serial interval, and generation time of SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Med. 2023;21(1):374.

37. Puhach O, Meyer B, Eckerle I. SARS-CoV-2 viral load and shedding kinetics. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2023;21(3):147-61.

38. Galmiche S, Cortier T, Charmet T, Schaeffer L, Chény O, von Platen C, et al. SARS-CoV-2 incubation period across variants of concern, individual factors, and circumstances of infection in France: a case series analysis from the ComCor study. The Lancet Microbe. 2023;4(6):e409-e17.

39. Buitrago-Garcia D, Egli-Gany D, Counotte MJ, Hossmann S, Imeri H, Ipekci AM, et al. Occurrence and transmission potential of asymptomatic and presymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infections: A living systematic review and meta-analysis. PLOS Medicine. 2020;17(9):e1003346.

40. Syangtan G, Bista S, Dawadi P, Rayamajhee B, Shrestha LB, Tuladhar R, et al. Asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 Carriers: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Frontiers in public health. 2020;8:587374.

41. Peeling RW, Heymann DL, Teo Y-Y, Garcia PJ. Diagnostics for COVID-19: moving from pandemic response to control. The Lancet. 2022;399(10326):757-68.

42. van Kampen JJA, van de Vijver DAMC, Fraaij PLA, Haagmans BL, Lamers MM, Okba N, et al. Duration and key determinants of infectious virus shedding in hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19). Nature Communications. 2021;12(1):267.

43. Rahmani A, Dini G, Leso V, Montecucco A, Kusznir Vitturi B, lavicoli I, et al. Duration of SARS-CoV-2 shedding and infectivity in the working age population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Med Lav. 2022;113(2):e2022014.

44. Wu Y, Guo Z, Yuan J, Cao G, Wang Y, Gao P, et al. Duration of viable virus shedding and polymerase chain reaction positivity of the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant in the upper respiratory tract: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Infect Dis. 2023;129:228-35.

45. Tsampasian V, Elghazaly H, Chattopadhyay R, Debski M, Naing TKP, Garg P, et al. Risk Factors Associated With Post-COVID-19 Condition: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2023;183(6):566-80.

46. Albanji MH, Baghafar AA, Alghanmi YA, Shaaban MM, Alkashlan EA, Sende HH, et al. Clinical Presentation and Management of Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome in Children With COVID-19: A Systematic Review. Cureus. 2023;15(10):e46918.

47. Paediatric Active Enhanced Disease Surveillance Network. Advice for clinicians: Paediatric Inflammatory Multisystem Syndrome Temporally associated with SARS-COV-2 (PIMS-TS) Australia: National Centre for Immunisation Research and Surveillance; 2020 [Available from: <u>https://ncirs.org.au/advice-for-clinicians-PIMS-TS</u>. 48. Menegale F, Manica M, Zardini A, Guzzetta G, Marziano V, d'Andrea V, et al. Evaluation of Waning of SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine-Induced Immunity: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open. 2023;6(5):e2310650.

49. Chemaitelly H, Ayoub HH, Coyle P, Tang P, Yassine HM, Al-Khatib HA, et al. Protection of Omicron sub-lineage infection against reinfection with another Omicron sub-lineage. medRxiv. 2022:2022.02.24.22271440.

50. Slezak J, Bruxvoort K, Fischer H, Broder B, Ackerson B, Tartof S. Rate and severity of suspected SARS-Cov-2 reinfection in a cohort of PCR-positive COVID-19 patients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2021;27(12):1860.e7-.e10.

51. Stegger M, Edslev SM, Sieber RN, Cäcilia Ingham A, Ng KL, Tang M-HE, et al. Occurrence and significance of Omicron BA.1 infection followed by BA.2 reinfection. medRxiv. 2022:2022.02.19.22271112.

52. Bobrovitz N, Ware H, Ma X, Li Z, Hosseini R, Cao C, et al. Protective effectiveness of previous SARS-CoV-2 infection and hybrid immunity against the omicron variant and severe disease: a systematic review and meta-regression. Lancet Infect Dis. 2023;23(5):556-67.

53. COVID-19 Forecasting Team. Past SARS-CoV-2 infection protection against reinfection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2023;401(10379):833-42.

54. Spinardi JR, Srivastava A. Hybrid Immunity to SARS-CoV-2 from Infection and Vaccination—Evidence Synthesis and Implications for New COVID-19 Vaccines. Biomedicines. 2023;11(2):370.

55. Chowdhury S, Chowdhury MS, Chowdhury NS, Chowdhury S, Chowdhury S. Omicron variant of SARS-CoV-2 infection elicits cross-protective immunity in people who received boosters or infected with variant strains. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 2022;36:3946320221133001.

56. Abolghasemi S, Zolfaghari F, Naeimipoor M, Azhdari Tehrani H, Hakamifard A. COVID-19 reinfection or reactivation in a renal transplant patient. Clinical case reports. 2021;9(8):e04672.

57. Ünsal O, Yazıcı O, Özdemir N, Çubukçu E, Ocak B, Üner A, et al. Clinical and laboratory outcomes of the solid cancer patients reinfected with SARS-CoV-2. Future oncology (London, England). 2022;18(5):533-41.

58. John Hopkins University of Medicine. Mortality Analyses United States of America: John Hopkins University of Medicine; 2023 [updated 16 March 2023. Available from: https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/data/mortality.

59. Nafilyan V, Ward IL, Robertson C, Sheikh A. Evaluation of Risk Factors for Postbooster Omicron COVID-19 Deaths in England. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(9):e2233446.

60. Mehri A, Sotoodeh Ghorbani S, Farhadi-Babadi K, Rahimi E, Barati Z, Taherpour N, et al. Risk Factors Associated with Severity and Death from COVID-19 in Iran: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Study. J Intensive Care Med. 2023;38(9):825-37.

61. Riziki Ghislain M, Muzumbukilwa WT, Magula N. Risk factors for death in hospitalized COVID-19 patients in Africa: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2023;102(35):e34405.

62. Dessie ZG, Zewotir T. Mortality-related risk factors of COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 42 studies and 423,117 patients. BMC Infect Dis. 2021;21(1):855.

63. Greenan-Barrett J, Aston S, Deakin CT, Ciurtin C. The impact of immunocompromise on outcomes of COVID-19 in children and young people-a systematic review and metaanalysis. Front Immunol. 2023;14:1159269. 64. Chenchula S, Vidyasagar K, Pathan S, Sharma S, Chavan MR, Bhagavathula AS, et al. Global prevalence and effect of comorbidities and smoking status on severity and mortality of COVID-19 in association with age and gender: a systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. Sci Rep. 2023;13(1):6415.

65. Xu J, Lan X, Zhang L, Zhang X, Zhang J, Song M, et al. The effectiveness of the first dose COVID-19 booster vs. full vaccination to prevent SARS-CoV-2 infection and severe COVID-19 clinical event: a meta-analysis and systematic review of longitudinal studies. Frontiers in public health. 2023;11:1165611.

66. Zhang W, Kedzierski L, Chua BY, Mayo M, Lonzi C, Rigas V, et al. Robust and prototypical immune responses toward COVID-19 vaccine in First Nations peoples are impacted by comorbidities. Nat Immunol. 2023;24(6):966-78.

67. Hameed I, Khan MO, Nusrat K, Mahmood S, Nashit M, Malik S, et al. Is it safe and effective to administer COVID-19 vaccines during pregnancy? A systematic review and metaanalysis. American journal of infection control. 2023;51(5):582-93.

68. Paul P, El-Naas A, Hamad O, Salameh MA, Mhaimeed N, Laswi I, et al. Effectiveness of the pre-Omicron COVID-19 vaccines against Omicron in reducing infection, hospitalization, severity, and mortality compared to Delta and other variants: A systematic review. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2023;19(1):2167410.

69. Muleme M, McNamara BJ, Ampt FH, Baptista M, Dittmer J, Osborne A, et al. Severity of COVID-19 among Residents in Aged Care Facilities in Victoria, Australia: A Retrospective Cohort Study Comparing the Delta and Omicron Epidemic Periods. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2023;24(4):434-40.e5.

70. Talic S, Shah S, Wild H, Gasevic D, Maharaj A, Ademi Z, et al. Effectiveness of public health measures in reducing the incidence of covid-19, SARS-CoV-2 transmission, and covid-19 mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2021;375:e068302.

71. Jefferson T, Dooley L, Ferroni E, Al-Ansary LA, van Driel ML, Bawazeer GA, et al. Physical interventions to interrupt or reduce the spread of respiratory viruses. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2023;1(1):Cd006207.

72. Achangwa C, Park H, Ryu S, Lee MS. Collateral Impact of Public Health and Social Measures on Respiratory Virus Activity during the COVID-19 Pandemic 2020-2021. Viruses. 2022;14(5).

73. Ryan RE, Silke C, Parkhill A, Virgona A, Merner B, Hurley S, et al. Communication to promote and support physical distancing for COVID-19 prevention and control. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2023;10(10):Cd015144.

74. Jepson M, Whittaker GA, Robins L, Long KM, Williams CM, Russell G, et al. Australian public health COVID-19 messaging is missing its mark in some vulnerable communities and people who reject COVID-19 safety advice. J Glob Health. 2022;12:05037.

75. Li Y, Liang M, Gao L, Ayaz Ahmed M, Uy JP, Cheng C, et al. Face masks to prevent transmission of COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. American journal of infection control. 2021;49(7):900-6.

76. Andrejko KL, Pry JM, Myers JF, Fukui N, DeGuzman JL, Openshaw J, et al. Effectiveness of Face Mask or Respirator Use in Indoor Public Settings for Prevention of SARS-CoV-2 Infection - California, February-December 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2022;71(6):212-6.

77. Seyed Alinaghi S, Karimi A, Afsahi AM, Mirzapour P, Varshochi S, Mojdeganlou H, et al. The Effectiveness of Face Masks in Preventing COVID-19 Transmission: A Systematic Review. Infect Disord Drug Targets. 2023. 78. Gettings J, Czarnik M, Morris E, Haller E, Thompson-Paul AM, Rasberry C, et al. Mask Use and Ventilation Improvements to Reduce COVID-19 Incidence in Elementary Schools - Georgia, November 16-December 11, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2021;70(21):779-84.

79. Stabile L, Pacitto A, Mikszewski A, Morawska L, Buonanno G. Ventilation procedures to minimize the airborne transmission of viruses in classrooms. Build Environ. 2021;202:108042.

80. Ordaya EE, Razonable RR. Emerging anti-spike monoclonal antibodies against SARS-CoV-2. Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy. 2024:null-null.

81. Li Y, Choudhary MC, Regan J, Boucau J, Nathan A, Speidel T, et al. SARS-CoV-2 viral clearance and evolution varies by type and severity of immunodeficiency. Sci Transl Med. 2024;16(731):eadk1599.

82. Li Y, Tan J, Tan S, Zhou Y, Sai B, Dai B, et al. Infection rate and factors affecting close contacts of COVID-19 cases: A systematic review. J Evid Based Med. 2022;15(4):385-97.

